1983

Craig M. Chambers and Linda C. Chambers v. Smithfield City And Robert Richardson : Brief of Appellant

ARGUMENT

I. THE CITY HAD NO AUTHORITY TO GRANT THE VARIANCE.

The threshold and primary substantive issue presented by this appeal is whether the board of adjustments was within its authority in approving Richardson's variance request. For purposes of this point only, Plaintiffs treat the board of adjustments as having made the variance decision (See Point II below). If, as Plaintiffs claim and will show, the Board had no power to grant the variance, then the trial court erred in upholding

the variance and its summary judgment should be reversed by this Court.

The powers of Municipal boards of adjustment are defined in Section 10-9-12, Utah Code Annotated. Subsection 10-9-12(3) gives the board power to authorize variances only upon compliance with specified conditions.

"The board of adjustments shall have the following powers: . . .

(3) To authorize upon appeal such variance from the terms of the ordinance as will not be contrary to the public interest, where owing to special conditions a literal enforcement of the provisions of the ordinance will result in unnecessary hardship; provided that the spirit of the ordinance shall be observed and substantial justice done. Before any variance may be authorized, however, it shall be shown that:

(a) The variance will not substantially affect the comprehensive plan of zoning in the City and that adherence to the strict letter of the ordinance will cause difficulties and hardships, the imposition of which upon the petitioner is unnecessary in order to carry out the general purpose of the plan.

(b) Special circumstances attached to the property covered by the application which do not generally apply to the other property in the same district.

(c) That because special circumstances, property covered by the application is deprived of the privileges possessed by other properties in the same district; and that the granting of the variance is essential to the enjoyment of a substantial property right possessed by other property in the same district."

Section 10-9-12, U.C.A. Since the City cannot, by ordinance, expand the powers granted in the enabling statute, Section 10-9-12(3) defines the widest possible range of the board's discretion. Furthermore, the board lacks jurisdiction to grant

a variance request which fails to meet the minimum statutory requirements. See Ivancovich v. City of Tuscon Board of Adjustment, Ariz. App, 529 P.2d 242 at 247 (1975).

A deficiency in any one of the minimum requirements of the statute deprives the board of power to grant a variance. For instance, if an applicant has demonstrated that strict adherence to the ordinance will create difficulties and hardships, but he fails to show any special circumstances attached to the property, the board cannot grant his request for a variance.

In the present case, the board lacked authority to grant Richardson's request. The variance did not even meet one of the statutorily prescribed minimum tests, let alone all of them as required. There is no evidence to support the City's decision. See Points IA through IC.

The City's lack of power to grant the variance translates into clear error on the part of the trial court.

"We hold therefore that . . .the order of the Board of Adjustment and the judgment of the District Court are both made without authority of law."

Walton v. Tracy Loan & Trust Company, 97 Utah 249, 92 P.2d 724 at 729 (1939). Plaintiffs submit that in reviewing the variance decisions of a board of adjustments, the district court should presume its decision to be "regular," and should uphold the decision of the board if there is "substantial evidence" to support it. See Banks v. Kodiak City Council, Alaska, 628 P.2d 927 (1981). The same standard has been held to apply to appellate review of the lower court's ruling on the variance.

"In reviewing a district court's judgment, as above, this court will, in the first instance. . . . make the same review of the administrative tribunal's action as does the district court."

Stice v. Gribben-Allen Motors, Inc., Parsons, Kan., 534 P.2d 126 at 1271 (1975).

The error of the trial court was compounded by the fact that in the proceedings before the City, Richardson had the burden of showing his entitlement to a variance. Erickson v. City of Portland, Or. App., 496 P.2d 726 (1972). In a typical variance case, the burden of proof shifts from the applicant before the board to the petitioner who seeks judicial relief. But in this case, the trial court granted summary judgment in Defendants' favor. This Court must, therefore, construe the evidence in the light most favorable to Plaintiffs.

The inevitable conclusion to be drawn from the record, no matter what standard of review is employed, is that the variance should not and could not have been granted, having failed to meet one or more of the statutory requisites. The trial court's summary judgment was likewise erroneous and was premature besides.

A. The Variance Violates the Spirit of the Ordinance.

The first and most important requirement the enabling act imposes on variance requests is "that the spirit of the ordinance shall be observed." Section 10-9-12(3), U.C.A. The idea that the variance cannot substantially deviate from the ordinance is also expressed in the statute as follows: the board has power to authorize "such variance from the terms of the ordinance as will not be contrary to the public interest," Section 10-9-12(3), U.C.A.; and "the variance will not sub-

stantially affect the comprehensive plan of zoning of the City," Section 10-9-12(3)(a). The statute leaves the board of adjustments powerless to grant anything other than a minor deviation from the zoning ordinance. The variance here granted constituted a significant departure from the zoning ordinance and should be struck down on this ground alone.

In Walton v. Tracy Loan & Trust Co., 97 Utah 249, 92 P.2d 724 (1939), the Utah Supreme Court declared a variance to be illegal as a substantial departure from the zoning ordinance. In the proceedings below both the Defendants and the Court distinguished the Walton case on the basis that Walton dealt with a "use variance," whereas the present case is an "area variance." Although the distinction exists, both "area" and "use" variances must meet the same statutory requirements; the statute makes no distinction between "use" and "area" variance. The proposition of Walton was that a variance in use is per se violative of the spirit of the ordinance, and as to the board of adjustments, is an ultra vires act. See Walton, 92 P.2d at 729. The basis for the holding, in part, was that the board could not, by variance, effect a rezone as zoning was a legislative function and the board was merely an administrative agency:

"Any variance in use to the extent such land is in effect a rezoning or the placing of such land in a different zone than that in which the Commission by ordinance had placed it . . ."

Walton, P.2d at 727.

The Walton case is helpful not only because it establishes some general guidelines as to what constitutes a violation of the spirit of the ordinance, but also because in

dicta, the court outlines the kind of "minor deviations" from the ordinances that are the proper subject of a variance.

"Can the Board then grant a variance in use or is it confined to variances in building and construction details within specified uses? . . . If, however, the powers of the Board are limited to minor and practical difficulties, to such variations in detail and construction as the Inspector himself might have allowed rather than to use, the statute and set up are harmonious throughout. . . and the purpose and spirit of zoning laws preserved. . . And this interpretation of the statute is in accordance with the great weight of authority."

(emphasis added)
Walton, 92 P.2d at 727. Variances are within the power of the Board only if they concern building and construction details which the building inspector himself might waive.

In the present case, the variance permits Richardson to build a home on two thirds of an acre, where the minimum lot size is one acre. This is not a minor "detail" which the building inspector might overlook in granting a permit. This variance violates the spirit and purpose of the ordinance by in effect downzoning the lot from an RE-1 zone to a zone in which the same uses are permitted but the minimum lot size is reduced. The RE-1 zone is classified with reference to two major criteria, use and minimum lot size. The set back and yard requirements are not made part of the classification, because these matters are details. Where the only distinction between the RE-1 zone and other zones is the minimum lot size, it cannot be said the minimum lot size is a minor "detail of construction."

Plaintiffs concede that if the applicant had conflicting surveys with regard to lot size, or had 99 percent of an acre, a variance might not violate the spirit of the ordinance. But

here Richardson would have the board of adjustment lop off a full third of the minimum area required by the ordinance.

"Unquestionably the requested variance from the . . . requirement that there be a lot area of not less than 6,000 square feet. . . so that this applicant might use this. . . 3,000-square-foot lot for single-family dwelling purposes, would unduly and in a very marked degree conflict with that specific provision of the ordinance, and would be against the public interest as declared therein, as well as contrary to the spirit of the ordinance. . ."

(emphasis added)

Brown v. Fraser, Okl., 467 P.2d 464 at 469 (1970). The elimination of one third of the lot requirement would likewise be contrary to the spirit of the ordinance. See Abel v. Zoning Board of Appeals, Conn., 374 A.2d 227 (1977).

The "findings" of the Board are not helpful with regard to determining whether the spirit of the ordinance is maintained by the variance (R. 85). As pointed out below, the "findings" are merely a checklist. Findings led through lg pay homage to the principle of preserving the spirit of the ordinance, but there is absolutely no evidence to support those findings. The only discussion of the spirit of the ordinance with regard to this variance was the objection which was repeatedly raised on the basis that the RE-1 zone was a "buffer zone" and that the allowance of higher residential density than one home per acre violated the spirit of such a "buffer" between agricultural and residential uses (R. 40, 45, 53). The "findings" were merely self serving conclusions of the various City bodies, and as such have little bearing on the issue. This Court must look past those conclusions and must independently examine the record to see if the spirit of the ordinance was violated. See Ivancovich

v. City of Tucson Board of Adjustment, Ariz., App. 529 P.2d 242 (1975). The record discloses that the variance conflicts with the expressed intent of the ordinance.

That the spirit of the ordinance has been violated by the variance is demonstrated not only by the variance as compared to the ordinance, but also by the way in which the variance was approved. The record clearly reflects that the variance was employed as an improper substitute for rezoning.

In Lovell v. Planning Com'n of City of Independence, Or. App., 586 P.2d 99 (1978), the Court struck down a variance which would have allowed construction on an area "less than the minimums specified for this R-1 single family residence zone." The Board had found that "(T)he degree of variance in this case is a reasonable amount of square footage for proper building." Lovell, 586 P.2d at 100. The Court implicitly found the variance to be in conflict with the zoning ordinance and directed the City's attention to the proper remedy:

"...if the City believes the lot size that would be left after the proposed partitioning is sufficient for its R-1 residential areas, then it should change its zoning restrictions to reflect that belief. Variances should not be employed as a substitute for the normal legislative process of amending zoning regulations."

Lovell, 586 P.2d at 101.

In the present case, Richardson began the process of obtaining approval for construction by requesting a rezone of his lot. See Statement of Fact, paragraph 6. It is important to note that Richardson switched his approach to a variance procedure only after the City convinced him that a variance would accomplish

the same result, but with substantially less difficulty (R. 47). The City had apparently superimposed variance ("special questions") standards over certain types of rezone requests, which rendered variance requests procedurally and substantively less difficult in those "special questions" cases. This improper channelling of Richardson's rezone request into the variance procedure points out the substance of Richardson's request and the variance as granted: It constitutes a substantive amendment to the zoning ordinance as to that lot and as such is invalid. The City further revealed the rezone character of the request when the Planning and Zoning Commission stated:

"It was felt this is a residential area and one home on .67 of an acrea was reasonable." (R. 50).

If the City felt the area was residential and that .67 of an acre was a reasonable size for a lot in that area "then it should change its zoning restrictions to reflect that belief." Lovell, 586 P.2d at 101. The variance, however, was not a proper remedy for Richardson and should be struck down. The district court erred in upholding the variance because the variance violates the public policy as expressed in the zoning ordinance.

B. There Are No Special Circumstances Attached to the Property.

Under the enabling act the subject property must be subject to special circumstances which are not generally attached to other property in the same district. Section 10-9-12(3)(b). This requirement is both independent and prerequisite to the "hardship" requirement. See Section 10-9-12(3)(c), U.C.A.

In this respect the variance has no basis because
1) there is no evidence of special circumstances attached to

Richardson's property and 2) there is no evidence of the difference between Richardson's property and other property in the RE-1 district. The variance is, therefore, illegal as this condition of the enabling act has not been satisfied.

In the present case, the Board unanimously found that special circumstances attach to Richardson's property (R. 85, finding li). Plaintiffs are at a complete loss to find from the record any evidence to support the Board's finding. The trial court likewise failed to identify any evidence that supported the Board's findings. See R. 87-89. The clear import of Section 10-9-12(3)(c), U.C.A. ~~and the lack of any evidence to support the Board's finding. The trial court likewise failed to identify any evidence that supported the Board's findings. See~~ 10-9-12(3)(c), U.C.A. and the lack of any evidence of special circumstances attached to the Richardson property obviate the necessity of further citation.

Even if Richardson had carried his burden of demonstrating some "special circumstances" attached to his property, he would not have satisfied the statutory requirement.

"The data contained in the planning commission's report focus almost exclusively on the qualities of the property for which the variance was sought. In the absence of comparative information about surrounding properties, these data lack legal significance.

. . .

Thus neither an administrative agency nor a reviewing court may assume without evidentiary basis that the character of neighboring property is different from that of the land for which the variance is sought."

Topanga Ass'n For A Scenic Community v. County of Los Angeles,
Cal., 522 P.2d 12 at 21, 22. ⁽¹⁹⁷⁴⁾ Again, the record is completely
devoid of evidence of the circumstances attached to the
surrounding property. It should be noted here that the sub-
standard size of Richardson's ^{lot} is not a special circumstance
within the meaning of Section 10-9-12(3)(c). The lot is no
different than other substandard lots in the same zone. See
Brown v. Fraser, Okl., 467 P.2d 464 at 469 (1970).

Having failed to bring forward any evidence of special
circumstances of the property which distinguish it from other
parcels in the same district, Richardson must be denied the
variance which the City and the lower court granted him in
contradiction with the statute.

C. The Variance Does Not Relieve Richardson From Any
Unnecessary Difficulties and Hardships.

Under Utah law, in order for a variance to be granted,
it must be shown that:

"...Adherence to the strict letter of the
ordinance will cause difficulties and hard-
ships, the imposition of which upon the
petitioner is unnecessary in order to carry
out the general purpose of the plan."

Section 10-9-12(3)(a), U.C.A. Subsection (3)(c) of the same
section restates this basic principle in terms of the preser-
vation of a "substantial property right." In this case, no
difficulties have been shown. There is no evidence of "hard-
ships." There is nothing in the record to support the finding
that "deprivation" of property rights has resulted from special
circumstances.

The applicant has the burden of showing that any

unnecessary difficulties and hardships would occur to him if the ordinance were literally enforced. Brown v. Fraser, Okl., 467 P.2d 464 (1970). In the proceedings below, Defendants argued that their burden had been met by what they claimed was proof of "practical difficulties." They urged upon the trial court the "practical difficulties" standard based on their contention that such standard is appropriate in "area variance" cases. The language of the statute, however, establishes the standard to be "difficulties and hardships," Section 10-9-12(3)(a), U.C.A., and makes no distinction between "area" and "use" variances. Given the ruling in Walton v. Tracy Loan & Trust Co., 97 Utah 249, 92 P.2d 724 (1939), that "use" variances are per se illegal as rezoning by a non-legislative body, the remaining standards of enabling statute, including "difficulties and hardships," can only apply to what Defendants characterize as "area" variances. This Court should flatly reject the "practical difficulties" standard and adopt the "unnecessary hardship" and "difficulties and hardships" standards contained in the clear language of Section 10-9-12(3), U.C.A.

Although the Board made a finding of "hardship," (See R. 85, 1h and 1j) and the court found that the land would be rendered useless without the variance (R. 83), there is no evidence of a cognizable "difficulty" or "hardship" which Richardson might suffer. The RE-1 zone permits some animal uses on the land (See Findings of Fact 5), and the land was apparently so employed prior to Richardson's purchase (R. 46). Nothing in the record suggests Richardson can't use his lot without a home on it.

The Commission and the Court apparently assumed the zoning restriction might impair or reduce the value of Richardson's lot. Although nothing contained in the record justifies this speculation, Plaintiffs will admit, for purposes of argument, that the variance would enhance the value of the lot. That fact, even if shown, would not constitute a "hardship."

"Although we have not had prior occasion to construe our variance statute, it is of a variety commonly found in other states. A finding of unnecessary hardship or the equivalent is universally required, and the universal rule is that the financial loss or the potential financial advantage to the applicant is not the proper basis for a variance." (citations omitted).

Stice v. Gribben-Allen Motor, Inc., Parsons, Kan., 534 P. 2d 1267 at 1272 (1875). There is no evidence that lacking the variance Richardson would suffer any "difficulty" or "hardship." The trial Court therefore erred in granting summary judgment.

Plaintiffs additionally claim that even if Richardson had carried his burden of proving "unnecessary hardship," the variance would be improper under the doctrine of "self-created hardship" ~~doctrine~~. Although this doctrine is not expressly made part of the statute, most Courts read into the variance proceedings this additional consideration. The Smithfield City ordinance apparently contemplates application of the "self-created hardship" doctrine in variance cases, as evidenced by "finding" 1k (R. 85). Defendants argued, and the trial court agreed, that the self-created hardship doctrine was inapplicable because Richardson did not "create" the hardship (R. 83). The "self-created hardship" doctrine is properly applied, however, where the alleged "hardship" is voluntarily acquired:

"As was mentioned above, the Board denied Levy's request for a variance on the ground that Levy's hardship, if any, was "self-inflicted" in that she purchased the subject property consisting of only one and one-quarter acres, with either actual or constructive notice that existing zoning regulations required that a single family residence be built on no less than two and one-half acres.

Without deciding whether 'self-inflicted hardship' is in and of itself an absolute bar to the granting of a variance, it is at the very least a highly significant fact which. . . is a 'material element bearing on the issue and weighs heavily against the owner seeking the variance.'"

Levy v. Board of Adjustment of Arapahoe County, Colo., 369 P.2d
(1962)
991. In the present case, the finding of the Board and the Court that the "self-created hardship" doctrine did not apply was not only unsupported by the evidence, but was directly contrary to the evidence in the record (See Finding of Fact 4).

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