1983

Craig M. Chambers and Linda C. Chambers v.
Smithfield City And Robert Richardson : Brief of
Resp0Ndent, Smithfield City

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

Appellants attempt to distinguish Thurston by pointing out that Thurston dealt with a County Commission's review of a conditional use permit. Appellants overlook the fact that the issue in Thurston was procedural in nature and that the principle of law expounded by the Court is directly on point in this case.

Despite Appellant's assertion that a prohibition of variance review by a City Council is "implicit in the entire framework of municipal zoning", no such expressed prohibition is found in the statutes. (Appellant's Brief, page 17) Appellants read far more restrictions in the enabling act (U.C.A. §10-9-6) than appear in the actual language. With reference to a County Board of Adjustment, which is appointed by the County Commission just as a City Board of Adjustment is appointed by the City Council (U.C.A. §10-9-7), the Thurston Court, at 446, stated:

Plaintiffs' interpretation of the Enabling Act, moreover, imposes a curious administrative paradox on county zoning systems within the state.

By law, the county commission is the body which initially forces the zoning resolution, upon recommendation from the planning commission. It is the task of the county commission to decide which uses will be permitted in which zoning districts, and upon what, if any, conditions. Plaintiffs' interpretation would require the County Commission to pass all administrative control over the implementation of so much of a plan as relates to special exceptions, conditional uses, and the like, to a subordinate body, which ceases to be answerable to the commission itself. Notwithstanding the fact that the county commission would retain whatever control it desired over the issuance of regular building permits, it would be deprived of any supervisory power over the issuance of any "special exceptions". Assuming, arguendo, that such "special exceptions", are conditional use permits, we cannot agree that such an arbitrary separation of power was within the contemplation of the legislature.

It would seem an "administrative paradox" for the Legislature to have provided for a City Board of Adjustment, "a subordinate body, which ceases to be answerable" to the City Council itself. Thurston, supra.¹

A. Any alleged defective notice procedure is excused or cured by actual notice received or participation by Appellants at the hearings.

Despite affirmatively admitting in their complaint, "In all cases the Plaintiff objected to the variance upon receiving notice of the above-mentioned hearings", Appellants contend that they were injured by allegedly inadequate provisions for notice

¹ It is also argued that the review procedures of the Smithfield City Ordinance go beyond the enabling statute making all actions taken thereunder void. Were this the case, the more appropriate judicial response would be to sever the offending language of the ordinance rather than declare the entire ordinance and all actions taken by the Board void. Such a severance is provided for by ordinance. Smithfield City, Utah, Ordinances, Ch. 10-4.

in the Smithfield Ordinance. (R.2). (Appellants' Brief at 18) In Thurston, supra, at 447, the Utah Court brushed a similar contention aside as "harmless error" even if such a defect were found to have existed. The Court said:

It is conceded by all parties that both plaintiffs were present at the hearings which dealt with the matters here under consideration. As such, they were afforded an adequate opportunity to hear and dispute the reasons underlying the county action. Commonly, the presence of an objecting party at the hearing cures most deficiencies in notice requirements relating thereto.

In summary, Appellants' arguments with regards to procedural infirmities point to alleged defects which may or may not exist, but in no case have Appellants pointed to any harm which they have suffered due to such alleged defects or infirmities. In fact, Appellants have benefited from greater procedural rights than those found in other municipalities without an ordinance similar to the one challenged herein.

II. THE BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT HAD THE AUTHORITY TO GRANT AN AREA VARIANCE TO CO-DEPENDANT, RICHARDSON.

The statutory language of Utah Code Ann. §10-9-12 (1953) authorizes a City Board of Adjustment to grant special exceptions and variances from the strict terms of a city zoning ordinance. The necessity of this type of "escape-valve" from the narrow application of a zoning ordinance is obvious. Coronet Homes Inc., v. McKenzie, 439 P.2d 219, 224 (Nev. 1968). Without the relief provided by a variance procedure, some courts have indicated that the confiscatory and inequitable nature inherent in a zoning system might not withstand constitutional scrutiny.

In Freeman v. Board of Adjustments of City of Great Falls, 34 P.2d 534, 538 (Mont. 1934), the Montana Court underlined the importance of a variance authority:

It is therefore apparent that the provision for a board of adjustment (or similar fact-finding body) vested with broad general powers, is important to the validity of the zoning ordinance and the statute under which it was enacted. In the absence of such a board vested with power to prevent the inequalities and injustices which might otherwise result from a strict enforcement of the zoning ordinance, there would be grave doubts as to the constitutionality of the ordinance and the statute under which it was enacted.

As a creature of statute, the powers of a City Board of Adjustment are only so broad or so narrow as dictated by the statutory language. See U.C.A. §10-9-12 (1953). A reading of the foregoing statute reveals that the Legislature has given a Board of Adjustment certain subjective criteria without tying the Board to specific objective restrictions. It has therefore fallen to the courts to more fully define the parameters of a Board's authority. The major Utah case which rules on the powers vested in a Board of Adjustment is Walton v. Tracy Loan & Trust Company, 97 U. 248, 92 P.2d 724 (1939). Appellants have relied heavily on Walton to justify their attack on the decision by the Smithfield City Board of Adjustment. As was recognized by the Trial Court, however, Walton is easily distinguished from the present case. (R.81)

In Walton, the Utah Court held that a variance granted by the Salt Lake City Board of Adjustments permitting the erection of a gasoline service station in a residential area (a prohibited

use in that particular zone), was an improper exercise of the Board's power. At 729, the Court stated:

We hold therefore that the Board of Adjustment has no power to permit or authorize the use of property for, or the erection or construction of a building designed to be used for, any purpose or use not permitted within such district by the terms of the Zoning Ordinance of Salt Lake City;... .

(Emphasis added)

The entire opinion of the Court is replete with references to a change in use whereas the present case involves a variance in area only. Therefore, Walton clearly diverges from the present case and other cases involving area variances.

The variance requested by Richardson does not contemplate a change of use but merely a reduction in area or lot size from the RE-1 or one-acre residential estate zone. Richardson's application for a building permit for "home occupation" and a "single family dwelling" as part of a "residential estate neighborhood" are permitted and intended uses under this zoning classification. (R.29).

The standard for the grant of a an area variance is considerably less stringent than that of a use variance. This distinction was articulated in Alumni Control Board v. City of Lincoln, 137 N.W.2d 800, 805 (Neb. 1965):

A use variance is one which permits a use other than that prescribed by the zoning ordinance in a particular district. An area variance has no relationship to a change of use. It is primarily a grant to erect, alter or use a structure for a permitted use in a manner other than that prescribed by the restrictions of the zoning ordinance.

Another distinguishing feature between an area and use variance is that courts have held area variances should be considered in conjunction with the less demanding "practical difficulties" standard found in many state statutes. In Village of Bronxville v. Francis, 1 App.Div.2d 236, 150 N.Y.S.2d 906; Aff'D 1 N.Y.2d 839, 135 N.E.2d 724 (1956), a variance from the local zoning ordinance was granted "so as to permit the construction of a bank building containing floor area in excess of the amount permitted by the ordinance." The Court went on to say at 909:

When the variance is one of area only, there is no change in the character of the zone district and the considerations present in the Otto case are not present. A change of area may be granted on the ground of practical difficulties alone, without considering whether or not there is an unnecessary hardship. (Cite omitted) This court is committed to the rule that, in the absence of statutory provision to the contrary, special hardships need not be established as a condition to granting an area variance.

This case was discussed in III Anderson, American Law of Zoning, Section 18.47 (1968):

The Court distinguished sharply between area variances, which involve yard, set back, lot coverage, density, or similar regulations and use variances, which permit a use proscribed by the ordinance. It not only found that "practical difficulties" and "unnecessary hardships" were distinct standards, but that each was intended to limit the Board's power to grant a particular kind of variance. The Court held that the Steinhilber requirement of unnecessary hardship limited the power of a Board of Zoning Appeals to grant use variances, but that area variances could be granted upon a showing that a literal application of the zoning regulations would result in practical difficulties.

(Emphasis Added)

This concept was reaffirmed in Anderson v. Board of Appeals, 22 M.D. App. 28, 322 A. 2d 220, 226 (1974) wherein the Maryland Court of Appeals stated:

Use variances are customarily concerned with "hardship" cases, here the land cannot yield a reasonable return if used only in accordance with the use restriction of the ordinance and a variance must be permitted to avoid confiscatory operation of the ordinance, while area variances are customarily concerned with "practical difficulty".

Following the decision in Walton in 1939, the Utah Legislature modified the standard or test to be used in the granting of a variance. In 1949, the Utah Legislature added the practical "difficulty" test to the "hardship" standard by the addition of paragraph (3) (a) to U.C.A. §10-9-12.² (1953) The amendment implies that the Legislature intended a different test be applied.³ This trend has been followed by other courts. In

² U.C.A. §10-9-12(3) (a)
(3) (...) Before any variance may be authorized, it shall be shown that:
(a) the variance will not substantially affect the comprehensive plan of zoning in the city and that adherence to the strict letter of the ordinance will cause difficulties and hardships, the imposition of which upon the petitioner is unnecessary in order to carry out the general purpose of the plan.
(Emphasis added).

³ See Journal of Legal Studies, Brigham Young University, Summary of Utah Law: Land Use Zoning and Eminent Domain, Section 11.13 (1979). The author states that "the inclusion of a term 'practical difficulties' in Sections 10-9-12 (3) (a) and 17-27-16(3) of the Utah Code came about after a decision in Walton which might possibly indicate that the legislature did recognize two standards that necessarily should be applied to two types of variances".

Board of Adjustment v. Kwik-Check Realty, Inc., 389 A.2d 1289, 1291 (Del. 1978) the Delaware Court construed a statute similar to the Utah Zoning Law and held:

... that the Superior Court correctly distinguished the two types of variances and prescribed a less burdensome test where an area variance is in issue under Section 1352(a)(3). Many states, with comparable statutory provisions, have adopted such an interpretation. (See cases cited below)⁴ The rationale, which we approve is that a use variance changes the character of the zoned district by permitting an otherwise proscribed use, (cite omitted), whereas an area variance concerns only the practical difficulty in using the particular property for a permitted use.

It is only logical to assume a less stringent standard for an area variance:

An area variance relating to restrictions such as side yard, rear yard, frontage, setback or minimum lot requirements, does not alter the character of the zoned district, whereas a use variance seeks a use ordinarily prohibited in the particular district.

(Emphasis added)

Wolf v. District of Columbia Board of Zoning Adjustment, 397 A.2d 936, 941 (D.C. App. 1979)

Whether or not the Utah Courts accept the concept of practical difficulties and area variances as a combined standard is not necessary for disposition of this case, but the reasoning behind the standard is submitted for the Court's consideration.

⁴ See Indian Village Manor Company v. Detroit, Mich. App., 6 Mich. App., 679, 147 N.W. 2d 731 (1967); Westminster Corp. v. Zoning Bd. of Review of the City of Providence, R.I. Supr., 103 R.I. 381, 238 A. 2d 353 (1968); Palmer v. Board of Zoning Adjustment, D.C. App., 287 A. 2d 535 (1972), and McLean v. Solev, Md. App., 270 Md. App. 208, 310 A.2d 783 (1973). See also 3 Anderson, American Law of Zoning, Section 14.45 et seq. (1968).

In the present case, the Smithfield City Board of Adjustments found that both difficulties and hardships would be imposed upon the applicant if his permit was not granted. (R.57 at para. h).

After Walton, supra, it is clear that a Board of Adjustments does not have the right to grant a use variance, but it seems to be the contention of the Appellant that the Board of Adjustments be rendered virtually impotent, powerless to grant even an area variance. The parameters of the Board of Adjustment's authority are not so constricted. In Freeman, supra, at 537, the Montana Court addressed this point:

Appellant contends that the board of adjustment did not have the power to authorize the issuance of the permit to Clark. In this connection it is suggested that the variation which the board has the power to make refers only to slight variations, such as the height of a building, or the distance it must be from the street, etc. We find little merit in this contention. Obviously, the Legislature could not fix any definite rule that would fit every individual case of alleged hardship. The authority conferred upon the board was, of necessity, of a general nature and discretionary.

Although appellants would use the dicta of the Walton Court to confine variances to "detail and construction" in the granting of building permits, but it does not appear from the cases or the statutes that such a limited function was intended. (Appellant's Brief page 8).

- A. A decision by the Board of Adjustment should be overturned only if clearly an abuse of discretion or illegal.

An examination of the record, reveals that considerable time and effort was spent by all three governmental bodies involved in discussing and deliberating the variance request made

by Mr. Richardson. More than one meeting was held in which Appellant and others appeared and voiced their opinions. (R. 40, 45, 47, 50, 53, and 54). In addition, in the discussion of the proposed variance, as recorded in the minutes of each meeting, the Board of Adjustments examined twelve separate areas of critical importance and found, after voting upon each, that the variance could pass. (R.57).

Appellant's brief repeatedly refers to "no evidence" or "nothing in the record" to support the Trial Court's granting of Summary Judgment and indeed implies that such judgment was "premature". (See Appellant's Brief pages 5, 6, 9 12, 13 and 15). Nevertheless, there is no direct challenge that this case was not a proper one for summary judgment. The facts are not in dispute and nowhere has Appellants alleged by affidavit or otherwise that such a dispute exists. If the Appellants were aware of conflicting evidence that would lead to a disputed material fact, then it is their burden to bring forth such evidence to the Trial Court. In a recent Utah case, Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Company, 659 P.2d 1040, 1044 (Utah 1983), it was asserted on appeal that summary judgment was inappropriate as the adverse party's supporting affidavits were defective. The Court said:

However, it is axiomatic that matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal.

The Court also held at 1044:

The opponent of the motion, once a prima facie case for summary judgment has been made must file responsive affidavits raising factual issues, or risk the Trial Court's conclusion that there are no factual issues. Rule 56(e).

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